IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1992

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 77,840 V CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clei

TFB NO. 90-11,351(06A)

WILLIAM A. BORJA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

<u>OF</u>

THE FLORIDA BAR

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 376183

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The testimony and evidence in this **case** established the following facts:

In June, 1987, The Florida Bar audited the Respondent's trust account, covering the period from January, 1985 through June, 1987. The Respondent's trust account records were not in substantial compliance with The Florida Bar Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. During said audit, the Bar auditor discovered that the Respondent did not have all trust account records required to be maintained; Respondent commingled his funds with client trust funds; and Respondent's trust account had client negative balances which caused a shortage in Respondent's trust account. During the audit, the Bar Auditor advised Respondent of the foregoing. Maggie Clements was Respondent's secretary at the time of the audit. (TR.1, p.19-21; TR2, p.128, L.4-22; and R, Stipulation of Facts; and R, Bar Exhibit 20).

In October, 1987, the Respondent hired Carol Stephanik as his secretary. (R, Stipulation of Facts).

In June, 1988, The Florida Bar conducted a follow-up audit on Respondent's trust account to determine if Respondent had properly maintained his trust account records since the conclusion of the first audit. The follow-up audit covered the period from July 1, 1987 through May 31, 1988. The Florida Bar auditor discovered that the Respondent had not prepared reconciliations (comparisons of ledger cards to bank balance) since June 1, 1987 when the first audit was conducted, and that Respondent continued to commingle his funds with client funds. Each month, Respondent would withdraw a portion of his earned

fees from the trust account to pay office expenses. However, Respondent did not pull all earned fees out of his account on a monthly basis. (TR.1, p.23-25; and R, Stipulation of Facts).

When The Florida Bar auditor went to Respondent's office for the follow-up audit, he instructed Carol Stephanick on how to do the reconciliation/comparison and she prepared the same which covered from July, 1987 through May, 1988. The Bar auditor also advised Respondent of the inadequatcies of his trust account records and procedures. (TR.2, p.7, L.14-25, p.8, L.1-24; and R, Bar Exhibit 6).

The Florida Bar filed, with The Supreme Court of Florida, a formal complaint against Respondent with respect to the two (2) audits referred to above. The Bar alleged in said complaint that Respondent violated Rule 4-1.15 (for commingling his funds with client trust funds); Rule 5-1.2(b)(5) (for failing to maintain certain cash receipts and disbursements journals); Rule 5-1.2(b)(6) (for failing to maintain a separate file or ledger card for each client or matter); Rule 5-1.2(c)(1)b (for failing to prepare monthly comparisons); and Rule 5-1.1 (for utilizing client trust funds for a purpose other than the specific purpose for which the funds were entrusted to Respondent). (R, Bar Exhibit 2 and Bar Exhibit 20). The Bar's Complaint was assigned Supreme Court Case No. 72,962 and was forwarded to Judge F. Dennis Alvarez to act as Referee.

On or about July 1, 1988, Carol Stephanik began stealing funds from the Respondent's trust account. From July 1, 1988 thru February 17, 1989, Carol Stephanik issued 23 trust account checks to the order of Carol Busch (aka, Carol Stephanik) which

totaled \$31,947.32. (R, Bar Exhibit 17; and TR.2, p.20, L.1-6).

In about September or October, 1988, the Respondent hired Michael Lewis, CPA, to prepare a financial statement for him personally, in regard to a post dissolution of marriage child support matter. Mr. Lewis only did a cursory review of Respondent's trust account to determine the amounts withdrawn from the trust account and deposited to Respondent's operating account. Mr. Lewis was not hired by Respondent to audit or reconcile Respondent's trust account. (TR.1, p.121-123; and R, Stipulation of Facts).

In December 1988, **a** final hearing on Supreme Court Case No. 72,962 was held before Judge Alvarez in regard to Respondent's trust account violations noted by The Florida Bar audits of June, 1987 and June, 1988. During the final hearing in December, 1988, Respondent and his witness, Michael Lewis, CPA, testified that Respondent's trust records and procedures were in order and that there were no problems with the trust account. Mr. Lewis testified that he had reconciled Respondent's trust account in total and that the same was in compliance with the trust accounting rules. (R, Bar Exhibit 21 & 22).

Based on the testimony of Respondent and Mr. Lewis, the Referee (Judge Alvarez) in the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding found Respondent not guilty of trust account violations and made the following findings of fact:

- 1. The Respondent has undertaken remedial measures concerning record keeping and accounting procedures and has instituted procedures to guard against future violations.
- 2. The court is assured that Borja recognizes his

responsibility to appropriately follow the spirit, as well as the letter, of the accounting procedures mandated by the Bar. (R, Bar Exhibit 2).

The Florida Bar appealed Judge Alvarez' ruling in the disciplinary case (Supreme Court Case No. 72,962) tried on December 15, 1988 wherein he found Respondent not guilty of trust account violations. On January 4, 1990, The Supreme Court reversed Judge Alvarez's decision and found Respondent guilty of the trust violations charged by the Bar. The Respondent received a public reprimand and was placed on probation for 2 years. (R, Bar Exhibit 20).

In December, 1988, February, 1989, and March, 1989, Carol Stepanick also stole funds from the Respondent's Estate account for Caroline Beck, Respondent, as Personal Representative. The total funds stolen from the Estate account amounted to \$6,806.00. (R, Bar Exhibit 12).

In January, February, and March, 1989 Carol Stephanick stole funds from the Respondent's guardianship account for Tasis wherein Respondent was the guardian. The total funds stolen amounted to \$5,164.89. (R, Bar Exhibit 3).

In late February, 1989, Michael Lewis discovered that funds were missing from Respondent's operating account. On March 9, 1989, Mr. Lewis met with the Respondent to discuss his suspicions that Carol Stephanick may have stolen funds from the Respondent's operating account. About a week later, Mr. Lewis and the Respondent met with Carol Stephanick and asked Ms. Stephanick whether or not she had stolen funds from the Respondent's operating account. During the meeting, Carol Stephanick admitted stealing from Respondent's operating account. When asked if she

stole funds from the Respondent's trust account or estate and guardianship accounts, Carol Stephanick denied the same. (TR.1, p.132-133; and R, Stipulation of Facts). The Respondent did not immediately seek to verify that Ms. Stephanick had not stolen funds from his trust and Estate accounts. (TR.1, p.73-75).

The Respondent did not fire Carol Stephanick at the conclusion of the March, 1989 meeting. In fact, Ms. Stephanick continued to work for the Respondent until late March, 1989. The Respondent permitted Ms. Stephanick to have access to his trust account books and records during the period of time that she worked for the Respondent after the March, 1989 meeting. (TR.1, p.69-71). When Ms. Stephanick left Respondent's employment, she took with her some of Respondent's trust account records. When the foregoing ocurred, the Respondent became suspicious that Ms. Stephanick stole funds from his trust account. Respondent verified his suspicions that Ms. Stephanick stole funds from his trust and Estate accounts no later than May, 1989. (TR.1, p.74-75; and R, Bar Exhibit 3).

The Respondent discovered the thefts from the guardianship account no later than May 9, 1989 when he had the account closed and the remaining funds contained therein transferred to a new account. However, the Respondent did not replace the funds stolen from the guardianship account until almost eight months later on December 29, 1989. (R, Bar Exhibits 3 and 12). On June 9, 1989, the funds stolen from the Beck Estate account were replaced by the bank. The Respondent never replaced the \$31,000.00 stolen from his trust account by leaving all of his earned fee in the account over a period of nine (9) months until

the shortage in his trust account decreased to \$699.45. In January, 1990, the Respondent did deposit \$699.45 in his trust account in order to cover client's negative balances. (R, Bar Exhibit 12).

On or about August 21, 1989, Respondent submitted his 1989 Statement of Annual Bar Dues to The Florida Bar. The Respondent certified as true in said statement that from June, 1988 through June, 1989, he kept all required trust accounting records and procedures and that there were no shortages in his trust account. The Respondent did note on the statement "exceptions for Bar audit/comments" which referred to the May, 1988 follow-up audit. (R, Bar Exhibit 4; and TR.1, p.95, L.10-22).

The Respondent never notified The Florida Bar of the actual thefts from his trust account.

In August, 1989, Respondent hired a secretary by the name of Athena Kampouroglos. (TR.1, p.111, L.2-4). From August 12, 1989 through September 14, 1989, Athena stole \$6,047.76 (27 checks) from the Respondent's guardianship account for James Tasis. In addition, in August, 1989 Athena stole \$310.00 from the bank account for the Estate of Beck, William A. Borja, Personal Representative. Athena also stole \$1,173.47 from Respondent's trust account. (R, Bar Exhibit 12).

In September, 1989 the Respondent became aware of Athena's thefts after being notified of the same by an officer from the Clearwater Police Department. The thefts were discovered when Athena was arrested on an unrelated matter. (TR.1, p.110-111).

The funds stolen by Athena with respect to the Respondent's guardianship account for Tasis and Estate account for Beck were

replaced by the bank on October 21, 1989. (R, Bar Exhibit 12). The bank did not replace the funds stolen by Athena from Respondent's trust account.

In approximately September, 1989, Respondent hired Mr. Doolittle to prepare his trust account records. Mr. Doolittle found the Respondent's existing records to be garbage. In addition, Mr. Doolittle did not see any reconciliations or comparisons from 1988 through the time he began his work in September, 1989 (except possibly bank statement reconciliations for May and/or June, 1989). (TR.2, p.90, 94-95).

The Respondent did not report Carol Stephanick's thefts to law enforcement authorities until October, 1989. (R, Stipulation of Facts).

In May, 1990, The Florida Bar served Respondent with a subpoena which required Respondent to produce his trust account records for the period starting June 1, 1988 through April, 1990. The subpoena also requested all bank records for the Guardianship of James Tasis and the Estate of Caroline Beck. The Respondent failed to produce for the April, 1990 audit, a cash receipts journal from June, 1988 to January, 1989; a cash disbursements journal for July, 1988, for September, 1988 to January, 1989 and for July, 1989; and monthly bank reconciliations, monthly comparisons and annual listings for June, 1988 through July, 1989. (R, Bar Exhibit 12).

On April 30, 1991, The Florida Bar filed with The Supreme Court of Florida, a formal complaint against Respondent in this case.

On January 8, 1992, January 10, 1992 and January 31, 1992 a

Final Hearing was held in this case before the Honorable Debra K. Behnke, Referee.

On February 18, 1992 a disciplinary hearing was held wherein the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.15, Rules of Professional Conduct (a lawyer shall not commingle his funds with client trust funds, and shall maintain his trust account records for six (6) years); Rule 4-8.4(c), Rules of Professional Conduct (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation); Rule 5-1.1 (money entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose must be held in trust and applied only to that purpose); Rule 5-1,2(b)(5) (an attorney shall maintain cash receipts and disbursement journals); Rule 5-1.2(b)(6) (an attorney shall maintain separate client ledger cards showing all individual receipts, disbursements, or transfers and any unexpended balance); Rule 5-1.2(c)(1)a, (a lawyer shall cause to be made monthly, trust account bank reconciliations); Rule 5-1.2(c)(1)b, (a lawyer shall cause to be made monthly, comparisons between all trust account bank reconciled balances and the total of the trust ledger cards); Rule 5-1.2(c)(2) (a lawyer shall prepare at least annually, a detailed listing identifying the balance of the unexpended trust money for each client or matter); and Rule 5-1.2(c)(3) (reconciliations, comparisons, and listings shall be retained for at least six (6) years). (RR, Section 111).

In addition, the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(a), Rules of Professional Conduct (a lawyer, in connection with a Bar

disciplinary matter, shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact); and Rule 4-8.1(b), Rules of Professional Conduct (a lawyer in connection with a disciplinary matter shall not fail to disclose a fact necessary to correct a misapprehension known by the person to have arisen in the matter). (RR, Section 111).

The Bar filed a Petition for Review on April 6, 1992. In this appeal, the Bar is challenging the Referee's finding that "the Respondent was so out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar rules and procedures, that he did not KNOWINGLY provide false testimony during the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez. The Bar is also challenging the Referee's recommendation that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(a) and (b), Rules of Professional Conduct. Further, the Bar is challenging the Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension for Respondent's misconduct in this case, This Initial Brief is filed in support of the Bar's Petition for Review.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Bar challenges the Referee's finding that "the Respondent was so out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar rules and procedures, that he did not KNOWINGLY provide false testimony during the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez. This finding by the Referee is clearly erroneous, in that it is contrary to Respondent's testimony and the evidence in this case. Even if the Respondent was out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar rules and procedures, the same would not have a bearing on the issue of whether or not Respondent knowingly provided false testimony to Judge Alvarez.

The evidence presented by the Bar established that prior to the audit involved in this case, (April, 1990) the Respondent's trust account was audited on two prior occasions, once in June, 1987 and again in June, 1988. The evidence showed that on three (3) occasions prior to a December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez, the Respondent was advised by the Bar Auditor of the deficiencies in his trust account records and procedures, and that he was instructed as to the steps he needed to take to be in compliance with the trust accounting rules. The evidence clearly showed that subsequent to June, notwithstanding the Bar auditor's instructions and advise, the Respondent knowingly continued to violate the same trust accounting rules and procedures as those found violated during the June, 1987 and June, 1988 audits of Respondent's trust account.

Based on the finding of fact challenged by the Bar, the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(a) and (b). Since the Referee's finding of fact is clearly erroneous and contrary to the evidence, the foregoing recommendation is also erroneous. The Bar established by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent violated Rule 4-8.1(a) and (b) by providing false testimony during the disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez.

The Bar also challenges the Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension. It is the Bar's position that disbarment is appropriate for Respondent's misconduct in this case.

The evidence in the instant case established that from June 1, 1988 through April, 1990, the Respondent failed to maintain on a monthly basis, all required trust account records; that he failed to follow all required trust accounting procedures; that he continued to commingle his earned fees with client funds; that he continued to advance costs from the trust account for his clients who did not have funds in the trust account; that he totally failed to supervise his secretaries with respect to his trust account records and procedures, which resulted substantial thefts of his clients' trust funds and estate funds; that he knowingly and intentionally submitted a false 1989 statement of annual Bar dues to The Florida Bar; that he knowingly provided false testimony during the December 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez; and that knowingly provided false testimony in the case sub judice.

In addition to the foregoing, the Respondent has an extensive prior disciplinary record (1 private reprimand and 3 public reprimands) evidencing Respondent's total lack of respect for ethics and the rules promulgated by this Court.

Recent case law **and** The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions support the Bar's contention that disbarment is appropriate for Respondent's misconduct.

Therefore, The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Court, to reject the finding of the Referee challenged by the Bar; to reject the Referee's recommendation that Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8,1(a) and (b); and reject the Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension. The Bar further requests that this Court disbar the Respondent from the practice of law in this State.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

REFEREE'S WHETHER THE FINDING OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW IN REGARD. RESPONDENT'S AND/OR HIS WITNESSES TESTIMONY DURING THE DISCIPLINARY HEARING BEFORE JUDGE ALVAREZ IN SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 72,962, ARE CONTRARY THE EVIDENCE AND TO **CLEARLY** ERRONEOUS.

The Bar is challenging a portion of the Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law. A Referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support, since the Referee had an opportunity to personally observe the demeanor of the witnesses and to assess their credibility, <u>The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker</u>, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986).

The Florida Bar alleged in the instant case that during the Final Hearing before Judge Alvarez in the disciplinary case styled The Florida Bar v. Borja, Case No. 72,962, the Respondent and one of his witnesses provided false and/or misleading testimony; that Respondent had knowledge of the same; and that the false and/or misleading testimony caused Judge Alvarez to make an erroneous ruling that the Respondent was not guilty of trust account violations. (RR, Section 11; and R, Complaint). The Referee in the instant case found that the Respondent was so out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar rules and procedures that he did not KNOWINGLY provide false testimony during the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez (RR, Section II). Based on this finding of fact the Referee

recommended that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(a) and Rule 4-8.1(b), (RR, Section 111). This finding and recommendation of guilt by the Referee is contrary to the evidence, contrary to the Florida Bar Rules of Discipline and is clearly erroneous.

First, Rule 3-4.1, Rules of Discipline provides, in part, as follows:

"Every member of The Florida Bar... is charged with notice and held to know the provisions of this rule and the standards of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by this court." (Rule 3-4.1, Rules of Professional Conduct).

In addition, the Respondent testified during the final hearing in this cause that, as an attorney in the State of Florida for at least twenty (20) years, he was familiar with The Florida Bar Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. (TR.1 p.19, L.2-7).

Further, the evidence in the record clearly establishes that the Respondent was not out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar rules and procedures regarding trust accounts. The evidence in this case established that in 1987 and 1988, the Respondent was involved in a disciplinary case (Supreme Court Case No. 72,962) which involved the same trust account violations as alleged in the instant case. (R, Bar Exhibit 2 and 20). The evidence showed that in June, 1987, The Florida Bar audited the Respondent's trust account, covering the period from January, 1985 through June, 1987. (R, Stipulation of Facts). At the conclusion of the audit in September, 1987, Pedro Pizarro, The Florida Bar Auditor, rendered an opinion that the Respondent was not in substantial compliance with the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. Mr.

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