IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Petitioner,

versus

CASE NO. 77,840

TFB NO. 90-11,351(06A)

SID J. WHITE

Clief Deputy Clerk +

1118

CLER

Вун

1/2: 1992

OPREME COURT

WILLIAM A. BORJA,

Respondent.

1

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT AND CROSS-PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

DAVID A MANEY Maney, Damsker & Arledge, P.A. 60% East Madison Street Fost Office Box 172009 Tampa, Florida 33672-0009 Telephone: 813/228-7371 Fla. Bar No. 092312 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Bill Borja is a sole practitioner in Clearwater, Florida. From October of **1987** until March **of 1989**, he had a single employee, Carol Stephanik. Unfortunately for Mr. Borja, Carol Stephanik was a skilled professional embezzler who stole \$53,000.00 from his operating, trust, estate and guardianship accounts. Ms. Stephanik forged Mr. Borge's name on checks, deposited them, and converted the proceeds. She covered her trail by falsifying entries on client ledger cards and otherwise giving false and misleading information to Mr. Borja.

Mr. Borja's C.P.A., Michael Lewis, detected the theft in February of 1989 and, in March, when Lewis and Borja confronted Ms. Stephanik, she admitted that she had stolen from Borja's operating account. She denied stealing from his trust account. After Stephanik left Borja's employ, he noticed that same of his - accounting records were missing.

Both Mr. Borja, and two of **his** accountants, Ralph Donaldson and Frederick Doolittle, testified that the majority of Mr. Borja's records were missing and many of the remaining records contained false entries.

After leaving Borja, Stephanik continued **her** career as a professional embezzler, first stealing \$4,000.00 from an elderly couple named Conasses and then stealing \$20,000.00 from a Mr. Horowitz. Tr. 2, pg. 55-56.

Borja had reported Stephanik to the authorities in October of

1989 and Stephanik xplained that she continued to steal because she needed funds to pay her criminal defense attorney! Tr. 2, pg. 49, lns. 9-14.

Stephanik eventually plead guilty to three counts of grand theft and was sentenced to eight years in prison. She is now out of prison and has emerged as The Bar's chief witness to support its charges that Borja has failed to comply with the trust accounting regulations.

The referee's finding of fact is entitled to a presumption of correctness which will be upheld absent a showing that the finding is clearly erroneous. <u>The Florida Bar v. Aaron</u>, **529 So.2d 685, 686** (Fla. 1988); <u>The Florida Bar v. Scott</u>, **566 So.2d 765, 767** (Fla. 1990).

The referee's ruling that Borja failed to maintain his trust accounting records, commingle funds, and otherwise failed to comply with the regulations governing trust accounts is not supported by substantial, competent evidence. Borja's accounting records were taken by Ms. Stephanik. She testified that she returned some of them by leaving them in a box outside the door of **his** office building early one Saturday morning. She gave contradictory evidence as to whether or not Borja **ever** acknowledged receiving these records, but Respondent hastens to add that this has been resolved against him by the referee. Nonetheless, the two accountants retained by Borja to reconstruct his records, Messrs. Donaldson and Doolittle, testified that they simply could not reconstruct Borja's records because too many records were missing.

1

They could not opine as to whether or not Borja had been retaining earned fees in his trust account for an unreasonable length of time because of a lack of records. In fact, Frederick Doolittle was surprised that The Bar's auditor, Pedro Pizarro, could render any opinion regarding Borja's records.

Pizarro did opine that Borja retained earned fees in his trust account for an unreasonable length of time. He reached this conclusion by assuming that Borja's fee was earned when the first cost expenditure was noted in his trust account. This is an unreasonable assumption where Borja did not consider his fees to be earned until the case was concluded.

The rulings of the referee regarding the trust account violations are supported largely by the testimony of Carol Stephanik, a repeated liar, a convicted embezzler, and the person who would surely have a motive to lie about the conduct of the man who had her put in jail. There is simply not clear and convincing revidence to sustain the ruling of the referee in this regard.

The Bar also charged Borja and/or his witness with providing false and/or misleading testimony during a prior disciplinary hearing before the Honorable Dennis Alvarez on December 15, 1988. Case number 72,962. The referee in this case found:

> • • • that the Respondent was so out of touch and unfamiliar with The Bar rules and procedures, that he did not KNOWINGLY provide false testimony during the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez.

> > RR., **pg.** 2. (emphasis the referee's)

The Bar has failed to establish that the referee's finding of fact is clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</u>, 582 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1991).

The Bar contended that Borja testified falsely when he testified:

as a safety precaution because I never want to go through this again, Mr. Lewis has been hired, and if for whatever reason he would quit or want to do something else, then I would have somebody else do this on a monthly basis

Tr. 0, pg. 88-89.

Borja had **hired** Lewis in the summer or fall of 1988. In fact, it was Mr. Lewis that discovered Stephanik's embezzlement in February of 1989.

The Bar apparently contends that Mr. Borja testified falsely when he stated that Mr. Lewis had been hired to do something on a monthly basis, whatever that something may have been. The Bar offers no explanation for that "something" may have been.

It is undisputed that Lewis reviewed Borja's trust accounts to ascertain whether or not he was timely transferring earned fees from the trust account to his operating account. Lewis' firm may have done some reconciliations of the trust account and Lewis was available to advise Borja on proper procedures. The Bar has simply failed to establish that the referee erred when she ruled that Borja did not knowingly provide false testimony at the prior disciplinary proceeding.

The referee's sanction of a ninety day suspension coupled with two years probation and the requirement that Borja attend a seminar on trust accounting procedures is consistent with the sanctions imposed by this Court in similar cases. <u>The Florida Bar v. Aaron</u>, 529 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1988); <u>The Florida Bar v. Carter</u>, 502 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1987). The Bar has failed to establish why this Court should enhance the sanction imposed by the referee, especially in light of the circumstances of this case, where Mr. Borja's problems were engendered by a clever and faithless employee.

In his Cross-Petition, **Borja** argues, for the reasons stated <u>infra</u>, that there is insufficient credible testimony to establish that he violated trust accounting regulations of The Florida Bar. The Bar's case rests upon the testimony of a convicted embezzler who had every motive for revenge **and** the ruling of the referee should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE REFEREE THAT THE RESPONDENT BE FOUND NOT GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-8.1(a), WHICH PROVIDES THAT A LAWYER IN CONNECTION WITH A BAR **DISCIPLINARY** MATTER SHALL NOT KNOWINGLY MAKE A FALSE STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACT IS AMPLY SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT CREDIBLE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE.

The Referee found in her report that the Respondent was:

... not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(a), which provides that a lawyer connection with in а Bar discliplinary matter, shall not knowingly make a false statement of material fact. In addition, [the Referee found] the Respondent not guilty of violating Rule 4-8.1(b), which provides that a lawyer in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not fail to disclose a fact necessary to correct а misapprehension known by the person to have arisen in the matter.

In the predicate finding of fact which supported the recommendation of the Referee, the Referee noted:

...The Florida Bar alleged during the instant case that during the discplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez, [a disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez in December of 1988, stemming from the audit of the Respondent's trust account for the period from January, 1985 through June 1987], the Respondent and/or **his** witnesses provided false and/or misleading testimony which caused Judge Alvarez to make his ruling that the Respondent was not guilty of trust account violations. I find the Respondent was so out of touch and unfamiliar with the Bar Rules and procedures, that he did not KNOWINGLY [capitalization that of the Referee] provide false testimony during the December, 1988 disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez.

In order for the Bar to find that the Referee's Recommendation and Finding of Fact should be rejected by this Court, the Bar must first establish that there is no competent credible evidence upon which the Referee's finding of fact could be predicated. The Florida Bar v. Thomas, 582 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 1991); The Florida Bar V. Scott, 566 So.2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1990). Moreover, the Bar must, alternatively, contend that even if there was some evidence before the Referee to support the finding of fact made by the Referee, that the evidence must be inherently incredible or so improbable as to be unworthy of belief, as a matter of law. Herzoq V. Herzoq, 346 So.2d 56, 57 (Fla. 1977); Shaw V. Shaw, 334 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1976); Howell V. Blackburn, 100 Fla. 114, 129 So.2d 341, 344 (Fla. 1930).

The following representation or statement of the Respondent made before Judge Alvarez in the December, 1988 proceeding was in response to the following question propounded by his counsel, at Tr. 1, pg. **88**:

q. Are you willing to do anything that they say to try to keep this account

After answering the question initially by stating "...Well, certainly I want to do that. ...", Mr. Borja continued his response with the following language which the Bar contends in this proceeding was falsely made in the disciplinary proceeding before Judge Alvarez:

> A. ... - but, what I have done is I asked Mr. Lewis - he knows all about the problems that I have here whether it's too much responsibility for the secretary or what.

> > I do not have as good a knowledge as maybe certainly an accountant would have. 1 understand basically in theory all of this.. The day-in and out workings of it, I do not have, if you will, the time and the knowledge to really do it properly. Relying on secretaries, the present secretary that I have, I think that basically she can do a pretty good iob, but I think as a safety precaution because I never want to go through this again, Mr. Lewis has been hired, and if for whatever reason that he would quit or want to do something else, then I have somebody else to do this on a monthly basis.

The critical language upon which the Bar relies has been inaccurately quoted. The response of Mr. Borja before Judge Alvarez, accurately quoted in this Brief, is not the same response as quoted by the Florida Bar, although even if the Florida Bar's quoted response were accepted as accurate, the result would inevitably be th same, n mely, that the response was not false.

Although it is difficult to tell exactly what it is that the Florida Bar contends that Mr. Borja stated in December of 1988 in his proceeding before Judge Alvarez that was false, apparently the Florida Bar thinks that the following statement of Mr. Borja was false, and known by Mr. Borja at the time to be false, at Tr. 1, pg. 89, **transcript** of the proceedings before Judge Alvarez:

> ...Relying on secretaries, the present secretary that I have, I think that basically she can do a pretty good job, but I think as a safety precaution because I never want to go through this again, Mr. Lewis has been hired, and if for whatever reason that he would quit or want to do something **else**, then I have somebody else to do this on a monthly basis.

It is probably a fair inference that the Bar is not contending that Mr. Borja was lying when he said he thought his secretary could do a pretty good job.

It is probably true that the Bar does not contend that Mr. Borja intended to hire someone as a safety precaution.

The first positive assertion made by Mr. Borja in his **response** to the question, the first assertion which the Bar apparently contends is false, is that "Mr. Lewis has been hired...."

The Bar relies on the *ipse dixit* on page 30 of its Brief to state that **this** testimony **"clearly** established that the Respondent and his witness, Mr. Lewis, provided false testimony to Judge Alvarez."

How?

Mr. Borja testified before Judge Alvarez in December of **1988** that he had hired Mr. Lewis.

In this proceeding, on January **8**, 1992, Bar counsel asked Mr. Borja, at Tr. 1, pg, 43:

- Q. But Mr. Borja, you did not hire Mr. Lewis until January of 1990, is that correct?
- A. No, no, no. Mr. Lewis, I would say, was hired either in the Summer or Fall of 1988. He has been my accountant, as I said before, to assist, to be there to answer questions, anything that we had with regard to any of my accounting.

The Referee thus had before her evidence from the transcript before Judge Alvarez that Mr. Borja testified before Judge Alvarez - that he had hired Mr. Lewis before December of 1988.

The Referee also had testimony before her in this proceeding from Mr. Borja that he had hired Mr. Lewis before December of 1988.

The Referee thus disposed of the issue of credibility immediately, by accepting the testimony of Mr. Borja on when Mr. Lewis was hired, identically to the way that Judge Alvarez accepted that testimony in the proceeding of December, 1988.

The Bar has failed to establish its burden by offering any evidence that Mr. Lewis had not been hired in December of **1988** by Mr. Borja to assist Mr. Borja. The Bar's mi quotation of the transcript of proceedings before Judge Alvarez may have been deliberate to enable it to strengthen its position before this Court as to the assertion made by Mr. Borja before Judge Alvarez.

In misquoting the transcript of proceedings before Judge Alvarez, the Bar at least now had the ability to argue that Mr. Borja may have been saying that Mr. Lewis had been hired "...to do this on a monthly basis." Tr. 1, pg. 89. In other words, the Bar may be contending that the falsity of the representation of Mr. Borja before Judge Alvarez lay in his assertion that Mr. Lewis had been hired to do something on a monthly basis, whatever that something may have been.

The Bar offers no explanation for what that "something" may have been. The Bar can only speculate as to what "this" was, and in speculating, the Bar suggests that Mr. Borja's statement embraced the concept that Mr. Lewis had been hired to do monthly reconciliations of the trust account, monthly comparisons of the bank balance in the trust account with the ledger cards. See Bar's Brief, p. 31.

The Bar cannot seriously contend that at the hearing before Judge Alvarez of December, 1988, Mr. Lewis had not been hired by Mr. Borja. Indeed, Mr. Lewis confirmed that during the course of his testimony in this proceeding. Tr. 1, pg. 126-127.

There is no Record support for the Bar's contention that the testimony of Mr. Borja before Judge Alvarez on December 15, 1988 was false in any material particular, or even, in any minor

particular. The Bar has the burden of showing at least by some evidence, perhaps not clear and convincing, but at least some evidence, that the Referee had no facts upon which to base her conclusion that Mr. Borja did not falsely or knowingly testify at the hearing before Judge Alvarez that he had not hired Mr. Lewis.

Under these circumstances, the Bar has failed to maintain **its** burden to show by clear and convincing evidence that the Recommendation and Finding of the Referee with respect to the issue of false testimony at the prior proceeding should be rejected. <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. McClain</u>, 361 So.2d 700, 706 (Fla. 1978); <u>see</u>, <u>The</u> <u>Florida Bar v. Aaron</u>, 529 So.2d 685, 686 (Fla. 1988).

In fact, the Bar is obviously unhappy with what it perceives to be its loss in the prior proceeding. It has attempted to have Mr. Borja disbarred in the past, and continues to do so.

The Bar is improperly in this case trying to retry its loss in the preceding case. That attempt must be rejected by this Court, and the finding of the Referee affirmed, and her recommendation accepted that Mr. Borja did not knowingly offer any false testimony before a disciplinary board in the proceeding before Judge Alvarez.

The Bar also contends that Borja testified falsely at the hearing below when he stated that he physically reviewed the bank statements and cancelled checks. The Bar, with twenty/twenty hindsight, states that this testimony must be false because, if Borja had actually reviewed his bank statements, he would have discovered Ms. Stephanik's thefts.

The testimony of Michael Lewis directly refutes The Bar's

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